# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CHARLES LONGSHORE,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF MASON COUNTY

The Honorable Amber Finlay

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

# **

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. In Charles Longshore's jury trial on an allegation that he was the driver of a Dodge Intrepid that attempted to elude several pursuing police vehicles, and on charges of harassment and drug possession, his federal and state constitutional rights to testify were violated where the court, in violation of his Due Process right to the presumption of innocence, ordered that a security officer would be posted in between the witness stand and the jury box if Mr. Longshore testified in his defense.
- 2. Mr. Longshore's right to testify was violated where the trial court failed to obtain a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of that right by colloquy, which was required once his counsel disavowed representation that he spoke for Mr. Longshore regarding the voluntariness of any decision by him to waive his rights.
  - 3. Mr. Longshore's counsel violated his right to testify.
- 4. Defense counsel was prejudicially ineffective in refusing the trial court's offer of an "unwitting possession" instruction on the drug charge, where counsel argued to the jury that Mr. Longshore did not know the pipe and drug residue were present in the car, and the evidence shows the jury probably would have acquitted the

defendant under the affirmative defense of unwitting possession, if it had been properly instructed that there was such a defense.

### **B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. Charles Longshore, under the federal 5<sup>th</sup>, 6<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments and Due Process, and under Wash. Const. Art. 1, §§ 3 and 22, had a right to testify on his own behalf unencumbered by visible, prejudicial security measures that were not supported by a hearing and facts establishing compelling cause found on the record. Were these protections violated where the court ordered the posting of a security officer between the witness box and the jury if Mr. Longshore testified as anticipated, which would have stripped him of the presumption of innocence, without any hearing, or findings indicating that he posed an individualized threat of injury, disorderly conduct, or escape, as required by <u>State v. Hartzog</u>, 96 Wn.2d 383, 635 P.2d 694 (1981) and <u>State v. Jaime</u>, 168 Wn.2d 857, 862, 233 P.3d 554 (2010)?
- 2. The trial court may accept a waiver of the defendant's right to testify by presuming that counsel's representations to the court regarding the matter signify a voluntary, knowing and intelligent waiver by the accused. Under the high standard required for a waiver of a constitutional right, could the trial court in this case

apply such a presumption where counsel noted the encumbered circumstances of the defendant's potential testimony and explained his advisement to not testify encumbered, but asked the court to conduct a colloquy with the defendant personally instead of accepting any representation of voluntary waiver by counsel?

- 3. Did Mr. Longshore's counsel violate his right to testify where Mr. Longshore wanted to testify unencumbered by the court's security order and wished to put his involuntariness on the record, but counsel told the court Mr. Longshore had decided to not testify based on counsel's advice?
- 4. Defense counsel argued to the jury that Mr. Longshore did not know that the drugs in question were inside the car, he did not have them on his person, and he did not constructively possess them. The crime of possession, including actual possession, does not require knowledge. If counsel was going to argue that Mr. Longshore did not know the drugs were in the car, and the evidence very viably supported such an affirmative finding by the jury, was defense counsel ineffective for refusing the court's offer of an "unwitting possession" instruction?

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Charles Longshore was charged with Felony Harassment, Eluding a Police Vehicle, and Possession of a Controlled Substance, following a car chase involving several pursuing law enforcement vehicles, on March 25, 2012. CP 99-101, 112-14. Mr. Longshore denied all the allegations, although he was later restricted from testifying. A local resident testified at trial that he saw someone who matched Mr. Longshore's appearance exit the passenger side of the Dodge Intrepid after it stopped, and saw the driver, a different person, exit the car and flee, before police arrived and Mr. Longshore was arrested at the scene of the stop. 3RP 345-73.

The State argued that Mr. Longshore was the driver of the Dodge, and in a very brief closing argument, urged the jury that the entire day's episode involved spiraling "out of control" conduct from methamphetamine use, including threats to shoot and kill, and reckless driving at high speeds endangering others. 3RP 404-06, 434-36.

At trial, Justin Elston testified that he was at the Firwood Gardens apartments in Shelton, and Mr. Longshore said he was going to shoot him. 1RP 39-42, 46-47. It appeared that the

Intrepid with passengers inside, was trying to depart some altercation or circumstance of animosity involving several residents, and then Mr. Elston positioned his own car to block the Dodge when Mr. Longshore tried to drive out of the complex. 1RP 41, 43. Resident Judith Aldridge admitted that Mr. Elston had purposely moved his truck to "block Charles in[.]" 1RP 69-70.

After the residents finally allowed him to leave, Mr.

Longshore drove away in the car. 1RP 43. According to Patricia

Pena, a passenger, the group briefly stopped at Tozier's Store and one of their homes, and picked up Ty Cuzick, who was borrowing the car and commenced driving it then. 2RP 281, 287-90. Mr.

Longshore of course went around and sat in the front passenger seat; shortly thereafter, Ms. Pena was surprised to find herself in a police chase. 2RP 294. When the car came to a stop a frightening time later, the driver Mr. Cuzick, and the three passengers, left out of each of their sides of the car. 2RP 295-96.

As Ms. Aldridge testified, Mr. Elston had called the Shelton Police after trying to block Mr. Longshore in with his truck. 1RP 69-70, 129. Officer Daniel Patton, who was familiar with Mr. Longshore, responded to the apartment complex, but learned over

the radio that another law enforcement vehicle had signaled the Dodge to stop near Olympic Highway South. 1RP 128-31. Officer Patton proceeded to an area near Lake Boulevard; he entered the pursuit and signaled the vehicle to stop with lights and sirens. He claimed that it was Charles Longshore driving, wearing a dark-colored jacket with a hood. 1RP 133-42. He admitted that the Dodge was determined to be registered to another local resident, a male. 1RP 184. Mason County Sheriff's Office Deputy Trevor Clark also joined the chase and signaled the Dodge to stop, as did Deputy Justin Cotte. They stated that the accused at counsel table was surely or appeared to be the person they saw driving the car or later arrested. 2RP 217-25, 230, 236, 238-50.

At some point, the Dodge came to a stop near a farm area, becoming "high-centered" in a grassy field area. 2RP 154, 221-22. Deputy Cotte assisted in detaining three suspects who came from behind a shed. 2RP 228. Officer Patton arrived at the scene and saw Mr. Longshore and two women being questioned. 2RP 150-52. Mr. Longshore was wearing a white shirt. 1RP 189.

Glenn Probst, a meat cutter and a hale 78 years old, resides on a hill near Taylor Road. His attention was drawn to the Dodge and the pursuing police cars as he heard their sirens approaching. 3RP 340-44. Mr. Probst testified that the Dodge had come to a stop near the chicken house area of the field visible from his home. 3RP 345-49. Mr. Probst saw the driver, who was wearing a dark jacket, exit the Dodge, jump over a fence, and run away into the brush past a building. 3RP 353-56. (According to officers, a black jacket had been located on the ground next to a shed. 1RP 189-90, 2RP 258.).

Then, Mr. Probst testified, a male in a white t-shirt exited the right front passenger side door, along with two other passengers, who appeared to be female, who exited the car from the back doors. 3RP 355-56. Mr. Probst watched as these three persons were then detained by the multiple law enforcement officers who had arrived on the scene; the white-shirted front seat passenger was placed in handcuffs at the side of the Dodge. 3RP 359-60.

Mr. Probst tried to make clear to the prosecutor that it would be impossible for the person in the white t-shirt to get out of the front passenger side of the car, as he had seen, and for such person to also get out of the driver's side, as the prosecutor insisted. 2RP 372-73.

Deputy Cotte stated that Mr. Longshore's protestations at the scene that Ty Cuzick had been driving were not consistent with the radio reports the deputy had received. 2RP 229-230.

Officer Patton stated that he was 90 percent sure that when he first saw the driver of the Dodge, it was Mr. Longshore. 2RP 210-11. He later admitted that during his subsequent investigation, he had several leads indicating that Mr. Longshore had not actually been driving the vehicle, but he did not follow them up. 2RP 216.

At the scene of the arrest, Officer Patton located a methamphetamine-type pipe in the rear passenger compartment of the Dodge, where the two female passengers had been seated. The pipe was found wrapped up inside a colorful woman's "footie" type sock. 2RP 203-05; Exhibit 11 (photo of sock). The pipe contained residue which was tested and found to contain methamphetamine. 1RP 157-63; 2RP 204.

Ty Cuzick testified and admitted that he had briefly owned the Dodge Intrepid, as part of a trade that he made for his motorcycle. 2RP 337-38. He denied that he was the driver of the Dodge during the incident. 2RP 337. His credibility was impeached by his multiple convictions for stealing, in 2000 and 2004. 2RP 338-39. He stated that his knowledge of the chase

came to him by listening to his police scanner radio. 2RP 342. Cuzick later

The prosecutor argued in closing that the defendant was the driver, not Ty Cuzick. Mr. Longshore wanted to tell his side of the story; he did not testify.

#### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. MR. LONGSHORE'S DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO THE PRESUMPTION OF INNOCENCE AND HIS RIGHT TO TESTIFY IN HIS DEFENSE WERE VIOLATED BY THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT IT WOULD POST A COURTROOM SECURITY OFFICER BETWEEN THE JURY AND THE WITNESS STAND IF HE TESTIFIED.
- a. Over objection, the trial court ordered prejudicial security measures without holding a hearing and finding that Mr. Longshore was dangerous. The trial court, appropriately, is vested with discretion to provide for the security of its courtroom.

  State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 396, 635 P.2d 694 (1981).

  However, a court cannot, without compelling cause found on the record, simply order security restrictions in the courtroom that prejudice the accused by removing his Due Process presumption of innocence before the jury. U.S. Const. amends. 5, 6, 14; Wash.

  Const. Art. 1, § 3, § 22; State v. Jaime, 168 Wn.2d 857, 862, 233 P.3d 554 (2010); see Estelle v. Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96

S.Ct. 1691, 48 L.Ed.2d 126 (1976) (presumption of innocence is basic component of Due Process).

Here, the court did not hold a hearing, and did not make any findings, and thus did not "make a record of a compelling individualized threat" posed by Mr. Longshore, before stating it intended to impose a dramatic and noticeable security measure that would prejudice him as dangerous and violent. State v. Gonzalez, 129 Wn. App. 895, 901-02, 120 P.3d 645 (2005) (citing State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 397-98, 635 P.2d 694 (1981)). This determination violated Mr. Longshore's right to testify in his defense unencumbered by a prejudicial ruling of the trial court. See Part D.1. c, infra.

# (i). Proposed measures by security officers.

During a break in the defense presentation of its case, defense counsel indicated that a courtroom security officer had told him they wanted security measures "in the event that Mr. Longshore testifies," and counsel stated that the defense was objecting. 2RP 324.

An officer, Newell, addressed the court and stated that he was concerned that there was an exit door of the courtroom near

the witness stand, and that the witness stand was close to the jury. 
Officer Newell indicated he wanted to have one Officer Hilyard, 
apparently a Deputy, position himself between the defendant and 
the jury box, approximately 6 feet from the stand, if Mr. Longshore 
testified. 2RP 324-25, 330.

Following argument, the trial court ruled that before the jury returned to the courtroom for Mr. Longshore's testimony, Officer Hilyard would re-position himself from the audience or gallery area to that location between the witness stand and the jury box, and stand there as Mr. Longshore testified. 2RP 324-28. The court stated that it had already found probable cause to support the eluding count, and thus that there was probable cause he would flee, and further, Mr. Longshore had been charged with murder in another case. 2RP 326-28.

The defense objected repeatedly that this would be very prejudicial in the eyes of the jury. 2RP 324, 325, 326, 328. In the alternative, counsel suggested other positioning of the officers instead of between the defendant and the jury, but emphatically indicated that these proposals did not mean he was not maintaining

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Mr. Longshore's trial was held in the second floor courtroom of the Mason County courthouse. <u>See</u> Appendix A (courtroom photographs).

all objection to the matter of posting any guard for any reason, where there had been no display of dangerous behaviors by the defendant in jail or the court at all. 2RP 326, 328, 330.<sup>2</sup>

# (ii). Defense counsel's representations to the court regarding whether Mr. Longshore would testify.

Shortly thereafter, when the court inquired whether Mr.

Longshore would indeed be the final defense witness, trial counsel

Mr. Gazori indicated that he and Mr. Longshore had further

discussed his right to testify. 2RP 378. Counsel stated that Mr.

Longshore would prefer to testify but that he now would not do so in
these circumstances, on counsel's advice. 2RP 378-79.

Unusually, however, Mr. Gazori requested that the court engage Mr. Longshore in a colloquy regarding his right to testify in order to "ensure that it's knowingly, voluntarily and intentionally – decision was made under those circumstances, I would invite that to complete the record." 2RP 378. The court declined, stating it would not engage in a colloquy with the defendant as to whether his decision was voluntary, because sometimes this decision is made by counsel, and sometimes it's made by the defendant, but

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The prosecutor declined the court's invitation to offer a legal argument on the matter, stating that he would defer to the court on the issue. 2RP 325.

Mr. Gazori had apparently discussed the defendant's right to testify with him. 2RP 378-79.

Mr. Longshore did not testify, and so the defense rested.

2RP 378, 394. The jury in the closely contested case found Mr.

Longshore guilty, following deliberations in the afternoon of July 17, returning its verdicts on the morning of the 18th. CP 69-72; Supp.

CP \_\_\_\_, Sub # 67 (16-page Mason Superior Court minutes, 7/11/12 to 7/18/12).

#### (iii). Motion for New Trial.

By handwritten *pro se* motion and sworn declaration, Mr. Longshore asked the court to grant him a new trial, arguing that his right to testify and his Due Process rights had been violated by the trial court's "allowance of the courtroom deputies' placement near the witness stand if he were to exercise his Constitutional right to testify." CP 41-48 (motion and memorandum); see also CP 50, 51-54 (*pro se* motion, declaration); CP 39-40 (Gazori declaration).

In his supporting declaration, trial counsel Gazori related the events leading to Mr. Longshore's not testifying:

Additionally, if Mr. Longshore had elected to testify in his case, we discussed with the court the situation surrounding where the in-court deputy would be placed. The court determined that the in-court deputy would be placed up in

the area by the witness stand, next to the jury, and before Mr. Longshore would take the stand. This was not done with respect to any other witness in the case. Mr. Longshore elected not to testify on his behalf.

CP 39-40. In his own declaration, Mr. Longshore stated that he wanted to testify, and that he told counsel he wanted to testify repeatedly. CP 51-52. Counsel, however, told him it was bad enough that officers in the gallery had been following him around every time he moved during the trial presentation, and he would then be further prejudiced by having the court position an officer between the witness stand and jury if he testified. CP 51.

Mr. Longshore told his lawyer to put on the record the fact that the court's ruling, allowing the officer to move in between the jury box and him, was a violation of his right to testify. CP 51-52. However, at that time, when the court inquired of counsel, Mr. Longshore's lawyer stated, conflictingly, that

"my client wishes to testify but under my direct advice he won't, and if the judge wants to implement that to see if it's voluntarily made knowingly, the court may do so."

CP 51-52.

Mr. Longshore further argued that the trial court had erred by failing to warn him of his constitutional rights, and by failing to

determine if his decision to forego the right to testify was made voluntarily and knowingly. CP 52.

I would have said "No" and stated the truth that in fact I did want to testify, creating a violation of my Right to Testify.

CP 52.

#### (iv). Ruling on new trial motion.

The trial court initially ruled by accepting the prosecutor's argument that the motion was untimely as beyond the 10-day limit from verdict. 3RP 488. The court rejected new counsel's request that the court exercise its discretion to hear the motion, based on the circumstances of Mr. Longshore having had to file the original motion *pro se*, along with time lost to delay because of his dissatisfaction with trial counsel, his request for self-representation, and ultimately his need to retain new counsel to pursue the new trial motion.<sup>3</sup> 3RP at 458, 472, 482-89.

Regarding the substantive questions presented at the new trial motion, the prosecutor first argued that any movement or posting of officers was certainly permitted in courtrooms for security

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Longshore had dated his motion, which did not rely on a particular rule regarding post-trial relief, on September 1. CP 54. The document was filed in the Superior Court on September 10. CP 51. On September 11, Mr. Longshore asked for a copy of the Superior Court Criminal Rules "so he could

reasons. 3RP 484-85.<sup>4</sup> The State also contended that Mr. Longshore had committed homicide while on conditions of release, had been charged at the trial in question with Eluding, and would have been several feet from an exit door if he had testified at the stand. 3RP 485-86.

The trial court stated that during trial there had been security concerns, because Mr. Longshore had been charged with Eluding, which is a crime of escape. 3RP 489. Further, the court stated that Mr. Longshore was charged with murder in another pending criminal case, which included issues of the defendant "fleeing the area," which was not clarified. 3RP 489.

Additionally, the prosecutor and the court addressed Mr.

Longshore's decision as to testifying. The prosecutor argued that

Mr. Longshore had waived his right to testify, thus his claims were

"speculative" as to why he declined to testify, and further argued

<sup>&</sup>quot;properly and adequately" present his motions to the trial court. CP 50. The record does not reflect any answer to this request.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Trial counsel stated in his declaration that during the earlier portion of the trial, officers were already following Mr. Longshore as he would move to view an evidence display. This included an officer placing himself between the defendant and the jury, although standing behind the bar of the gallery. CP 39. Mr. Longshore's new counsel at the new trial motion additionally argued that this movement of the officers in the gallery during trial violated Due Process and the presumption of innocence. CP 41-48; 3RP 487. The court later ruled that during trial when the defendant moved or shifted seats, at times in order to view an exhibit, the courtroom officer's movement following him appeared similar to the

that it was on the record that Mr. Longshore had waived his right to do so in court "knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily." 3RP 477.

For its part, the court stated that there was insufficient evidence to establish that the court's order positioning an officer near the witness stand was the reason Mr. Longshore did not testify, because the new trial pleadings merely indicated that the defendant decided not to do so. 3RP 489. The court stated that what was "before the Court is it was counsel's choice for him not to testify." 3RP 489.

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