#### No. 44323-6-II

### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

V.

### CHARLES LONGSHORE, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Mason County The Honorable Amber Finlay

No. 12-1-00119-7

### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

MICHAEL DORCY Mason County Prosecuting Attorney

By

TIM HIGGS Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #25919

521 N. Fourth Street PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 PH: (360) 427-9670 ext. 417

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	STATE'S RESTATEMENT OF ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR	LONGSHORE'S 1	
B.	<u>STATE'S COUNTERSTATEME</u> <u>PERTAINING TO APPELLANT</u> <u>OF ERROR</u>		
C.	<u>FACTS</u>	3	
D.	ARGUMENT	10	
	<ol> <li>Longshore avers factually that measure in the courtroom with making findings on the record measure, and he avers that the by the judge was to place a sec Longshore and the jury when, Longshore asserts that this act violated his state and federal c in his own behalf. The State c did hold a hearing and did plac that the trial court ordered that stand next to an exit door (beh Longshore testified (rather tha and that because Longshore voi testify, the security measure we</li></ol>	hout holding a hearing or to support the security security measure ordered curity officer between or if, Longshore testified. ion by the trial court constitutional rights to testify counters that the trial court ce its findings on the record, t the deputy bailiff would hind Longshore) when in between him and the jury),	
	2. Longshore's attorney represented to the trial court that Longshore wished to testify but that in deference to the attorney's advice, Longshore was waiving the right to testify, and the attorney invited the trial court to engage in a colloquy directly with Longshore to determine		
State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II		Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext, 417	

:

i

whether his waiver was in fact knowing, voluntary and				
intelligent. Longshore avers that the trial court erred by				
declining to engage in this colloquy. The State counters				
that on the facts of this case it would have been error for				
the trial court to have engaged in such a colloquy directly				
with the defendant17				

E.	<u>CONCLUSION</u>	
----	-------------------	--

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

### Table of Cases

## State Cases

State v. Balzer, 91 Wn. App. 44, 954 P.2d 931 (1998)26
State v. Bradshaw, 152 Wn.2d 528, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004)26
State v. Callahan, 77 Wn.2d 27, 459 P.2d 400 (1969)25
State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 300 P.3d 400 (2013)27
State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 975 P.2d 967 (1999)12
State v. George, 146 Wn. App. 906, 193 P.3d 693 (2008)25
State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011)27
State v. Hartzog, 26 Wn. App. 576, 615 P.2d 480 (1980)17
State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 635 P.2d 694 (1981)10-13, 15, 17
State v. Hill, 83 Wn.2d 558, 520 P.2d 618 (1974)20, 21
State v. Huff, 64 Wn. App. 641, 826 P.2d 698 (1992)
State v. Jaime, 168 Wn.2d 857, 233 P.3d 554 (2010)10, 11, 12, 14
State v. Lynch, 87882-0, 2013 WL 5310164 (Wash. Sept. 19, 2013)27
State v. Russ, 93 Wn. App. 241, 969 P.2d 106 (1998)19
State v. Thomas, 128 Wn.2d 553, 910 P.2d 475 (1996)18, 19, 20, 23, 24

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

•

# Federal Cases

÷

:

:

<i>Strickland v. Washington</i> , 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d 674 (1984)27
Statutes
RCW 69.50.4013

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

### A. <u>STATE'S RESTATEMENT OF LONGSHORE'S</u> ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) Longshore avers that the trial court violated his due process right to the presumption of innocence by ordering that a security officer would be placed between him and he jury when he testified.
- 2) Longshore avers that his right to testify was violated because the trial court did not conduct a colloquy on the record with him to determine whether his waiver of the right to testify was a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent decision.
- 3) Longshore avers that his trial attorney violated his right to testify.
- 4) Longshore avers that his trial counsel was ineffective because the attorney rejected the court's offer of an unwitting possession instruction in relation to the charge of possession of a controlled substance.

### B. <u>STATE'S COUNTER-STATEMENTS OF ISSUES</u> <u>PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1. Longshore avers factually that the court ordered a security measure in the courtroom without holding a hearing or making findings on the record to support the security measure, and he avers that the security measure ordered by the judge was to place a security officer between Longshore and the jury when, or if, Longshore testified. Longshore asserts that this action by the trial court violated his state and federal constitutional rights to testify in his own behalf. The State counters that the trial court did hold a hearing and did place its findings on the record, that the trial court ordered that the deputy bailiff would stand next to an exit door (behind Longshore) when Longshore testified (rather than between him and the jury), and that

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

because Longshore voluntarily waived the right to testify, the security measure was never implemented.

- 2. Longshore's attorney represented to the trial court that Longshore wished to testify but that in deference to the attorney's advice, Longshore was waiving the right to testify, and the attorney invited the trial court to engage in a colloquy directly with Longshore to determine whether his waiver was in fact knowing, voluntary and intelligent. Longshore avers that the trial court erred by declining to engage in this colloquy. The State counters that on the facts of this case it would have been error for the trial court to have engaged in such a colloquy directly with the defendant.
- 3. Longshore avers that he wanted to testify at trial but wanted to do so unencumbered by the trial court's security measure (of placing a bailiff by the exit door near the witness stand and jury). Longshore avers that his trial attorney violated his right to testify when the attorney told the court that based on counsel's advice Longshore was choosing not to testify (but did not mention any particular reason why he advised Longshore not to testify). The State avers that there is no citation to the record to show that the court's planned, added security measure deterred Longshore from testifying or to show that but for the security measure he would have testified; nor are there facts to support an argument that the added security measure was intrusive to the point that it interfered with Longshore's right to testify.
- 4. Longshore avers that his trial attorney was ineffective because the attorney rejected an unwitting possession instruction in regard to the charge of possession of a controlled substance. The State counters that rejection of an unwitting possession instruction was Longshore's right and that it was a legitimate trial strategy to decline the instruction because it would have imposed upon him a burden of proof that he would not bear in the absence of the instruction.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

## C. <u>FACTS</u>

In the days and months leading up to March 25, 2012, Charles Longshore had made many trips and visits to the Firwood Court complex in Shelton, Washington. RP 68-69, 87-88. He was seen there frequently in a goldish-beige Dodge Intrepid with tinted windows and a little sticker with feathers on it. RP 43-44, 68-69, 87-88. Because the residents and owner of the complex suspected criminal activity, Longshore was eventually trespassed from the premises. RP 65, 69, 85.

On March 25, 2012, Longshore returned to Firwood Court, driving the same goldish-beige Dodge Intrepid with the tinted windows and a little sticker with feathers on it. RP 42-44, 70-71, 80, 85, 89. Neighbors called 911. RP 40, 69. Justin Elston tried to box in Longshore's car so he could hold him until police arrived. RP 41, 48-49, 69. In response, Longshore began moving about like he had a gun or was reaching for a gun, and he threatened the neighbors that he would kill every one of them and would also kill their families. RP 41, 43, 46, 49-50, 70, 77, 86. At least a couple of the neighbors were afraid that Longshore would carry out the threats. RP 43, 46-47, 71, 88.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 3 -

Fearing for his life and for the lives of others, Elston moved his car and allowed Longshore to drive away. RP 43. Elston noted Longshore's license number. RP 44-46. Longshore drove away in the goldish-beige Dodge Intrepid with at least one female passenger. RP 42, 89.

Officer Patton of the Shelton Police Department was on patrol and received a dispatch about the Firwood Court incident. RP 128-29. Twelve minutes later, Patton received a call that a fellow officer had contacted or attempted to contact the Dodge Intrepid. RP 130. The Dodge Intrepid had the same license number as the one reported at Firwood Court. RP 131. Rather than stop for police, the Dodge ran, and police then took up a pursuit. RP 131.

Officer Patton listened to the radio traffic and tried to determine the path of the fleeing Dodge Intrepid. RP 131-32. He determined that the car may be heading for the intersection of Lake Boulevard and Wyoming, so he headed there, and when he arrived he put out spike strips and blocked other traffic from entering the intersection. RP 131-32. But one of the pursuing officers put out a miscommunication and mistakenly said that the Dodge was now traveling in the opposite direction; so, Patton put away his spike strips and was about leave when he then saw the

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

fleeing Dodge and pursuing marked police cars, with lights and sirens activated, speeding toward him. RP 132-33, 240.

The fleeing Dodge sped right past Patton, within feet, and went right through a stop sign without making any attempt to stop. RP 133. As the Dodge sped past, Patton saw the driver and recognized him to be Charles Longshore. RP 133-34. Patton then joined the pursuit and was the third in a line of three police cars that were pursing Longshore. RP 135-36.

During the pursuit, Deputy Clark of the Mason County Sheriff's Office was directly behind Longshore, and at one point Deputy Clark got a good look at Longshore's face when he saw it in Longshore's side, rearview mirror when Longshore had to slow to make a turn during the pursuit. RP 247, 249. Deputy Clark knew Longshore from prior contacts, and he was 100% sure that it was him. RP 250. As Longshore was driving during the pursuit, Deputy Clark saw him taking off a coat, or something, and suspected that Longshore might be reaching for or aiming a gun; so, Deputy Clark began to move back and forth in the roadway so as to avoid being too stationary of a target. RP 250.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

During the pursuit, Officer Patton lost sight of Longshore and the Dodge for a time, and when he next saw him his observations were not as good as they were on the corner of Wyoming and Lake Boulevard, but Patton could see that the driver was now wearing some kind of dark hooded sweater or jacket. RP 137.

Officer Patton now became the lead police car in the pursuit. RP 139. The pursuit entered a residential neighborhood where children were present. RP 139. Because children and other residents were put in danger by the pursuit, Officer Patton slowed to 30 mph and turned off his lights and siren. RP 139. Longshore continued to speed away, as Patton watched the distance grow between them. RP 139.

Once out of the residential area, Patton resumed lights and siren and tried then to catch up to Longshore and the Dodge Intrepid. RP139. The chase had meandered over an area of at least ten miles and had put numerous innocent civilians and police officers in danger, as Longshore drove at speeds up to 110 mph and ran through traffic signals without stopping. RP 140-50, 219-23, 241-46.

Police soon caught up with the Dodge Intrepid, where it was found at the end of a rural road. RP 152, 247. Longshore and two females were

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 6 -

found near the car, hiding behind a shed, and were taken into custody. RP 152, 247. Witnesses identified Longshore and the Dodge Intrepid as the same car that he was driving when he left Firwood Court. RP 44, 46, 68, 86, 125, 153.

A search of the Dodge revealed a methamphetamine pipe, with unburned methamphetamine in it, that was found in a black sock that was stuck between the driver's door and the driver's seat. RP 157, 159-60, 163, 262.

Based on these facts, the State charged Longshore with felony harassment (threats to kill), attempting to elude a pursuing police vehicle, and possession of a controlled substance (methamphetamine). After receiving the evidence cited above, the jury convicted Longshore on all counts.

During the trial, Officer Newell of the Mason County Jail voiced a security concern that would arise in the event that Longshore decided to testify. RP 324. The jury box is located very near the witness box in the Mason County courtroom, and directly behind the witness box, there is an exit door. RP 324, 327, 330 (see also, Longshore's "Appendix A," attached to his opening brief). Officer Newell was concerned because in

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II Mason County Prosecutor PO Box 639 Shelton, WA 98584 360-427-9670 ext. 417

- 7 -

addition to the trial charges, Longshore was also being held for two counts

of aggravated murder in the first degree in a separate case. RP 326.

The trial court heard from Officer Newell and then heard the

arguments of Longshore's counsel. RP 324-326. The court then made the

following findings:

The issue before the court is what type of restraints – security should be on a defendant in a jury trial. This is a case that is an eluding, a harassment and a possession of a controlled substance. However Mr. Longshore is also held on another set of charges, which are aggravated murder.

Currently in this trial Mr. Longshore has been unrestrained at the table, but there has been the presence of three officers from the jail....

There has been a request made that if Mr. Longshore testifies that the officer then be placed behind him when Mr. Longshore is in the... [witness box]. When he's in the witness box, to put an officer behind him that is between him and the jury box....

RP 326-37 (excerpted from several pages of findings). Additionally, the trial court reasoned that the charge of eluding "does mean a flight risk, because that's essentially what eluding is; you're eluding a police officer." RP 328. The court concluded that it "does not find that it is too prejudicial to have an officer in the well behind the court bench and behind the witness box." RP 328. The officer was to stand about six feet behind the witness box, next to the door which is located behind and between the

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

witness box and the jury box (thus, the officer would have been visible to the jury, but would not have been in the line of sight of jurors looking at the witness box or the witness). RP 324-331 (see also, Longshore's "Appendix A," attached to his opening brief).

However, the issue of where to place an officer was made moot by Longshore's decision not to testify. RP 378-79. Defense counsel informed the court that: "Mr. Longshore and I have discussed his right to testify. He indicates that he... would prefer to testify, but that on my advice will not testify." RP 378. Counsel then invited the court to engage in a colloquy with Mr. Longshore on the record, but the court declined. RP 378. So, counsel declared: "I have made it clear to him that it is his right, and nobody – the Court, myself – nobody can take away that right. But on my advice, he will choose not to testify." RP 379.

Defense counsel gave no indication whatsoever about the reason why he advised Longshore not to testify or the reason why Longshore was choosing not to testify. RP 378-79.

State's Response Brief Case No. 44323-6-II

### D. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. Longshore avers factually that the court ordered a security measure in the courtroom without holding a hearing or making findings on the record to support the security measure, and he avers that the security measure ordered by the judge was to place a security officer between Longshore and the jury when, or if, Longshore testified. Longshore asserts that this action by the trial court violated his state and federal constitutional rights to testify in his own behalf. The State counters that the trial court did hold a hearing and did place its findings on the record, that the trial court ordered that the deputy bailiff would stand next to an exit door (behind Longshore) when Longshore testified (rather than between him and the jury), and that because Longshore voluntarily waived the right to testify, the security measure was never implemented.

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